

Index Insights | Fixed Income

# Government debt sustainability:

An examination of the FTSE Debt Capacity World Government Bond Index after 10 years

July 2025



### AUTHORS

Robin Marshall, M.A., MPhil Director, Global Investment Research robin.marshall@lseg.com

Nelson Huang Director, FICC Product and Research, APAC nelson.huang@lseg.com



### **Executive summary**

- The most widely used metrics for public debt sustainability are gross debt/GDP ratios, and debt service costs/GDP. This enables standardisation of measures across countries, using data which is widely available, even if the metrics are not perfect.
- Investor concerns about public debt sustainability in the G20 have deepened since rates rose in 2022, evidenced by higher term premia, higher long bond yields and steeper yield curves.
- There is no magic threshold level for these variables that triggers a sovereign debt crisis, since the ability to meet debt service costs hinges on real growth rates, real interest rates, debt ownership, and the relationship between monetary and fiscal policy.
- The FTSE Debt Capacity World Government Bond Index (DCWGBI) captures relative differences in sovereign debt/GDP ratios and debt/service costs by index constituents, and adjusts sovereign weights accordingly. In its 10 year history, this has led to a substantial underweight developing in the US and Japan. In contrast, Scandinavian government bonds have been overweighted versus the WGBI. The DCWGBI has consistently outperformed the WGBI, during its first 10 years, and particularly since Covid in 2020, reflecting US sovereign spread widening, and superior credit quality in the DCWGBI.
- If investor concerns about debt sustainability deepen, this may drive further outperformance by the DCWGBI, given its relative weights. Alternatively, if debt sustainability metrics improve, the index has the capacity to increase sovereign weightings accordingly, reducing the risk of underperformance.

## Contents

Gross government debt/GDP ratios and debt service costs have almost doubled since the GFC	) 4
How's Debt Capacity World Government Bond Index alternatively reweighted	4
Transition to a higher interest rate regime transformed debt dynamics, adversely	6
as nominal and real yields increased sharply across most WGBI constituents	7
Curves have steepened and term premia have increased	8
Breakdown of monetary/fiscal policy co-ordination may explain this1	0
with fiscal policy remaining stimulative even during recent monetary tightening1	0
Relative changes in gross debt/GDP and debt service costs drive index weights1	1
Performance returns show DCWGBI delivering stronger returns versus WGBI over 5	~
years	2
and DCWGBI also outperforms on a longer time horizon1	3
Flexibility to capture relative changes in debt sustainability symmetrically important1	3

# Gross government debt/GDP ratios and debt service costs have almost doubled since the GFC

Globally, government debt/GDP ratios and debt service costs have increased since the GFC and Covid, raising the relevance and importance of sovereign bond indices like the <u>FTSE Debt Capacity World Government Bond Index (DCWGBI)</u>, which was built in October 2014. The DCWGBI uses both gross debt/GDP ratios and debt service costs/GDP as metrics for debt capacity, and sustainability. Debt/GDP is the most commonly used metric for debt capacity, because of the availability of gross debt and GDP data, and the simplicity of the ratio of the country's indebtedness (gross debt) to its repayment capacity (measured by GDP).

But using gross debt/GDP alone does not include the maturity structure of a country's debt, its interest rate sensitivity, or the breakdown of the debt between domestic and external (particularly important for EM economies). So by adding a measure of debt service costs, we can implicitly capture the duration of the debt and its interest rate sensitivity.<sup>1</sup> The weighting methodology of the DCWGBI is also designed to measure relative changes in debt/GDP (a long term sovereign risk indicator) and debt service costs (a mid-term sovereign risk indicator) and adjust weights accordingly.

### How is the Debt Capacity World Government Bond Index alternatively reweighted

The weighting function converts the gross debt/GDP ratios and debt service costs/GDP factors into weights. A higher Debt-to-GDP or Debt Service-to-GDP ratio indicates a heavier debt burden on the economy and worse debt service capacity of the country. In DCWGBI, this would result in a lower country weight.

However, intuitively, linear tilting of the country weights is not the best approach for the following reason. If countries have a relatively low Debt/GDP ratio and are deemed in good fiscal health, an even lower Debt/GDP doesn't necessarily mean a country is fiscally healthier, and vice versa. Instead, an S-shaped curve, rather than a linear function for weights achieves that objective and is more suitable for the weights associated with these factors. The function differentiates the fiscally healthier economies from the less healthy ones while not significantly discriminating against the various countries within each cluster, please see Chart 1 below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> These are not perfect metrics, since net debt would be a better measure, and GDP may not capture repayment capacity accurately. But these measures have held up well in empirical studies (see "Constructing county-specific debt sustainability indices for developing countries", A.Rahaman, S.Ramadeo, University of Portsmouth, Working Paper, 2024-01).



#### Chart 1: Illustration of country weights and gross debt/GDP ratios

The Debt/GDP and calculated debt service/GDP ratios of each country are converted into weights, with lower weights assigned to more indebted countries, or countries with higher debt service costs as a % of GDP. The final weight of each country is determined as the weighted average of 3 components – (1) the country's market value weight, (2) the country's debt/GDP based weight, and (3) the country's debt service/GDP based weight. We define the factors as the deviation of each component divided by the total deviation. That is, the component that deviates more will have higher impact on the final weight. Chart 2 shows a comparison of DCWGBI and World Government Bond Index (WGBI) sovereign weights, based on these factors.





Source: FTSE Russell data, to May 31, 2025.

Source: FTSE Russell, FICC Research.

# Transition to a higher interest rate regime transformed debt dynamics, adversely

Weak real growth since the GFC, and higher real yields more recently created adverse dynamics for government debt/GDP ratios, and debt service costs, unless current government expenditure is reduced substantially, relative to revenues. But this is difficult during a period of weak real growth, when there is cyclical pressure on tax revenues, and particularly with ageing populations and labour forces throughout the G20 economies<sup>2</sup>.

Higher bond yields, both nominal and real, and higher debt/GDP ratios have raised investor focus on government debt sustainability, particularly given weak real GDP growth rates. The switch to more active fiscal policy, for infrastructure development and the green transition has sharpened this focus further. Chart 3 shows how government debt/GDP ratios in the G7 and China have increased steadily since the early-2000s, after the twin shocks of the GFC and Covid.



Chart 3: G7 and China gross government debt as a percentage of GDP

Source: IMF, data to end-2024.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See "The Shape of things to come- is the era of G7 zero rates over ? FTSE Russell insights, 2023.

# ...as nominal and real yields increased sharply across most WGBI constituents

Higher real and nominal yields since 2021-22 are shown in Charts 4 and 5, despite the monetary policy easing by G7 central banks in 2024-25, as inflation fell. This follows a protracted period of very low yields and term premia, in which investors seemed prepared to give G7 sovereigns the benefit of the doubt for higher debt/GDP ratios, on the view they had increased mainly because of the GFC and Covid shocks and increases were only temporary. QE purchases also protected investors by depressing nominal and real yields, and debt service costs were therefore comparatively low.

5.0 4.0 3.0 2.0 1.0 0.0 -1.0 Jun-20 Jun-25 Jun-21 Jun-22 Jun-23 Jun-24 US 7-10YR Germany 7-10YR UK 7-10YR Japan 7-10YR

Chart 4: Selected G7 nominal yields since Covid / 2020

Source: FTSE Russell data to June 13, 2025.



Chart 5: Selected G7 real yields since Covid

Source: FTSE Russell data to June 13, 2025.

# Curves have steepened and term premia have increased

Since 2022, higher yields, bearish curve steepening, and increases in the term premium in government bonds are evident. This is most notable in US Treasuries, even if we cannot infer causation<sup>3</sup> directly from the correlation of higher debt/GDP ratios and debt service costs. Charts 6 and 7 also show US yield curve gradients and term premia have risen more in longer maturities, and there is more steepening of the yield curve in longs in the last 12 months.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> David Hume, Enquiry concerning human understanding, 1748



### Chart 6: US yield curve gradients since 2020

Source: FTSE Russell, LSEG. Data to June 13, 2025.

#### Chart 7: US term premia since 2020



US ACM term premium on 2, 5, 10 yr Treasuries since 2020

Source: New York Fed, based on Adrian, Crump and Moench. Data to May 31, 2025.

# Breakdown of monetary/fiscal policy co-ordination may explain this...

Another key factor in this may be the relationship between monetary and fiscal policy. Sargent and Wallace<sup>4</sup> explored scenarios in which the ability of a central bank to control inflation may be compromised by fiscal policy. But the modern orthodoxy is that an independent central bank will be supported by passive fiscal policy, which allows achievement of the inflation target, and a stable debt/GDP ratio. This so-called consensus assignment<sup>5</sup> refers to monetary policy controlling inflation and the business cycle, while fiscal policy focusses on controlling budget deficits and government debt. It also allows a bigger role for fiscal policy in the special circumstances in which monetary policy may be constrained by design, like a monetary union (Eurozone), or accident, like the zero lower bound on interest rates. But in each case, fiscal policy complements monetary policy by adjusting aggregate demand in the appropriate direction – it does not counter the thrust of monetary policy.

### ...with fiscal policy remaining stimulative even during recent monetary tightening

But of late there has been evidence of this consensus assignment breaking down, with fiscal policy remaining stimulative, even during monetary tightening phases, most notably following the inflation shock in 2021-22. Indeed, as explained in our recent note<sup>6</sup>, the US has been one of the economies subject to the sharpest increases in debt/GDP, despite stronger growth versus Europe and Japan since Covid, as Chart 1 above also shows. The recent removal of the last remaining AAA-rating for Treasuries from Moody's has not helped investor sentiment either, but Chart 8 on Sovereign credit ratings shows that AA has become the new AAA, with AA now having a much higher weight than AAA in both indices. The DCWGBI also has higher credit quality than WGBI, as a result of the objective to underweight riskier sovereign debt.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "Some unpleasant monetarist arithmetic" – Thomas J. Sargent, Neil Wallace, Fed.Reserve Bank of Minneapolis, Quarterly Review, Sargent and Wallace, Fall 1981.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>"Monetary and Fiscal Policy Interaction: The Current Consensus Assignment in Light of Recent Developments." Kirsanova, Tatania; Leith, Campbell and Wren-Lewis, Simon. Economic Journal, 2009

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Time to leave Treasuries for the duration – FTSE Russell, May 2025.



Chart 8: Sovereign Credit Rating weights in DCWGBI and WGBI

Source: FTSE Russell, as of May 31. Past performance is no guarantee of future results.

More generally, it seems plausible that Investor uncertainty over the nature of fiscal regimes may be a factor contributing to the increase in the term premium, due to fears about higher debt issuance<sup>7</sup>. Some of these forces are structural, including the green transition, infrastructure, and defence spending. For example, Germany has now suspended the debt brake to allow for an increase in defence spending as a share of GDP.

# Relative changes in gross debt/GDP and debt service costs drive index weights

Although increases in debt/GDP ratios and debt service costs are a feature in nearly all DCWGBI constituents, it is relative changes in these variables that drive country weight changes in the index, as explained earlier. And the combination of higher for longer US rates and a higher US debt/GDP ratio has caused the underweight of US Treasuries in the DCWGBI to increase further, to over 15%, versus the WGBI. This far exceeds the underweight of JGBs in the index, which is now only 3%, having dropped from an underweight of about 10% during the GFC. In contrast, Scandinavian government bonds have a significant overweight in the DCWGBI of nearly 6%, versus the WGBI weighting, reflecting lower gross debt/GDP and debt service cost ratios. China's country weight in both global indexes has grown sharply since WGBI inclusion in 2021, and now exceeds 10% in the WGBI, but the increase in gross debt/GDP since Covid means the DCWGBI weight is 2% lower than the WGBI weight. Other DCWGBI weights are much closer to the WGBI weights, as Table 1 shows.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Is it time for some unpleasant monetarist arithmetic? – David Andolfatto, Fed.Reserve Bank of St Louis, Third Quarter, 2021.

Index	Effective duration	Weighted average life	US weight	Japan weight	UK weight	China weight	France weight	Combined Sweden, Norway and Denmark weight
Debt capacity WGBI	6.97	9.4 years	26.5%	6.96%	4.6%	8.1%	5.1%	6.3%
WGBI	6.95	9.5 years	41%	10.1%	5%	10.15%	6.7%	0.5%

### Table 1: Selected DCWGBI country weights versus WGBI

# Performance returns show DCWGBI delivering stronger returns versus WGBI over 5 years...

Finally, perhaps unsurprisingly given these country weights, and US spread widening, the DCWGBI has outperformed the WGBI in recent years. Since the beginning of 2025, DCWGBI has outperformed WGBI by about 1.5% in USD (5.3% v 6.8%), as the Table 2 shows. This owes very little to duration differences since the two indices have virtually identical effective duration and average life, as the Table 2 shows. If debt sustainability concerns deepen, the relatively short duration and average life of the US Treasury market may also raise concerns about refinancing costs with higher coupons and maturity walls. Another important factor is a weakening US dollar because DCWGBI underweights the dollar by 15% against WGBI, due to the lower US Treasury weighting.

### Table 2: Performance of WGBI versus DCWGBI

### FTSE Russell Factsheet | FTSE Debt Capacity World Government Bond Index (DCWGBI) | May 31, 2025

### ANNUALISED RETURNS (in %)

	DCWGBI							WGBI								
		USD		EUR		JPY		GBP		USD		EUR		JPY		GBP
	USD	Hedged	EUR	Hedged	JPY	Hedged	GBP	Hedged	USD	Hedged	EUR	Hedged	JPY	Hedged	GBP	Hedged
YTD*	6.86	1.63	-2.53	0.85	-1.89	-0.18	-0.76	1.65	5.30	1.51	-3.95	0.74	-3.32	-0.29	-2.20	1.54
1 Year	7.28	5.79	2.58	3.92	-1.50	0.49	1.28	5.60	6.47	5.38	1.81	3.51	-2.24	0.09	0.52	5.18
3 Years	0.77	1.98	-1.16	-0.13	4.70	-3.25	-1.48	1.30	-0.02	1.56	-1.93	-0.55	3.88	-3.65	-2.25	0.88
5 Years	-2.00	-0.78	-2.40	-2.41	3.89	-4.14	-3.69	-1.27	-2.73	-0.94	-3.12	-2.57	3.13	-4.29	-4.40	-1.43

\*Not annualised

Source: FTSE Russell data to May 31, 2025.

# ....and DCWGBI also outperforms on a longer time horizon

Looking at a longer time horizon, DCWGBI annually outperforms WGBI by about 70 bps consistently in the last 5 years, and the outperformance has widened since 2025, perhaps due to increased investor concern about sovereign debt sustainability, and default risks, as in the 2010 Eurozone sovereign debt crisis. This outperformance is shown in Chart 9.





Source: FTSE Russell data to end-May 2025.

# Flexibility to capture relative changes in debt sustainability symmetrically important

Finally, looking ahead, the advantage of indices like the DCWGBI is that they have flexibility to capture both deterioration in gross debt/GDP ratios and debt service costs and improvements in these metrics, by increasing weightings. In the pre-GFC era, when gross debt/GDP ratios were nearer 50% than 100%, this capacity was less important, since sovereign debt sustainability was a less critical issue for investors.

#### **ABOUT FTSE RUSSELL**

FTSE Russell is a leading global provider of index and benchmark solutions, spanning diverse asset classes and investment objectives. As a trusted investment partner we help investors make better-informed investment decisions, manage risk, and seize opportunities.

Market participants look to us for our expertise in developing and managing global index solutions across asset classes. Asset owners, asset managers, ETF providers and investment banks choose FTSE Russell solutions to benchmark their investment performance and create investment funds, ETFs, structured products, and index-based derivatives. Our clients use our solutions for asset allocation, investment strategy analysis and risk management, and value us for our robust governance process and operational integrity.

For over 40 years we have been at the forefront of driving change for the investor, always innovating to shape the next generation of benchmarks and investment solutions that open up new opportunities for the global investment community.

#### **CONTACT US**

To receive our research and insights email and Market Maps reports, directly to your inbox, subscribe here.

To learn more, visit lseg.com/ftse-russell; email info@ftserussell.com; or call your regional Client Service team office:

 EMEA +44 (0) 20 7866 1810
 Asia-Pacific

 North America +1 877 503 6437
 Hong Kong

 Tokyo +81 3
 Tokyo +81 3

Hong Kong +852 2164 3333 Tokyo +81 3 6441 1430 Sydney +61 (0) 2 7228 5659

#### **Disclaimer**

© 2025 London Stock Exchange Group plc and its applicable group undertakings ("LSEG"). LSEG includes (1) FTSE International Limited ("FTSE"), (2) Frank Russell Company ("Russell"), (3) FTSE Global Debt Capital Markets Inc. "FTSE Canada", (4) FTSE Fixed Income LLC ("FTSE FI"), (5) FTSE (Beijing) Consulting Limited ("WOFE"). All rights reserved.

FTSE Russell<sup>®</sup> is a trading name of FTSE, Russell, FTSE Canada, FTSE FI, WOFE, and other LSEG entities providing LSEG Benchmark and Index services. "FTSE<sup>®</sup>", "Russell<sup>®</sup>", "FTSE Russell<sup>®</sup>", "FTSE Russell<sup>®</sup>", "FTSE Russell<sup>®</sup>", "FTSE Russell<sup>®</sup>", "ICB<sup>®</sup>", "Refinitiv", "Beyond Ratings<sup>®</sup>", "WMR<sup>™</sup>", "FR<sup>™</sup>" and all other trademarks and service marks used herein (whether registered or unregistered) are trademarks and/or service marks owned or licensed by the applicable member of LSEG or their respective licensors.

FTSE International Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority as a benchmark administrator

All information is provided for information purposes only. All information and data contained in this publication is obtained by LSEG, from sources believed by it to be accurate and reliable. Because of the possibility of human and mechanical inaccuracy as well as other factors, however, such information and data is provided "as is" without warranty of any kind. No member of LSEG nor their respective directors, officers, employees, partners or licensors make any claim, prediction, warranty or representation whatsoever, expressly or impliedly, either as to the accuracy, timeliness, completeness, merchantability of any information or LSEG Products, or of results to be obtained from the use of LSEG products, including but not limited to indices, rates, data and analytics, or the fitness or suitability of the LSEG products for any particular purpose to which they might be put. The user of the information assumes the entire risk of any use it may make or permit to be made of the information.

No responsibility or liability can be accepted by any member of LSEG nor their respective directors, officers, employees, partners or licensors for (a) any loss or damage in whole or in part caused by, resulting from, or relating to any inaccuracy (negligent or otherwise) or other circumstance involved in procuring, collecting, compiling, interpreting, analysing, editing, transcribing, transmitting, communicating or delivering any such information or data or from use of this document or links to this document or (b) any direct, indirect, special, consequential or incidental damages whatsoever, even if any member of LSEG is advised in advance of the possibility of such damages, resulting from the use of, or inability to use, such information.

No member of LSEG nor their respective directors, officers, employees, partners or licensors provide investment advice and nothing in this document should be taken as constituting financial or investment advice. No member of LSEG nor their respective directors, officers, employees, partners or licensors make any representation regarding the advisability of investing in any asset or whether such investment creates any legal or compliance risks for the investor. A decision to invest in any such asset should not be made in reliance on any information herein. Indices and rates cannot be invested in directly. Inclusion of an asset in an index or rate is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold that asset nor confirmation that any particular investor may lawfully buy, sell or hold the asset or an index or rate containing the asset. The general information contained in this publication should not be acted upon without obtaining specific legal, tax, and investment advice from a licensed professional.

Past performance is no guarantee of future results. Charts and graphs are provided for illustrative purposes only. Index and/or rate returns shown may not represent the results of the actual trading of investable assets. Certain returns shown may reflect back-tested performance. All performance presented prior to the index or rate inception date is back-tested performance. Back-tested performance is not actual performance, but is hypothetical. The back-test calculations are based on the same methodology that was in effect when the index or rate was officially launched. However, back-tested data may reflect the application of the index or rate methodology with the benefit of hindsight, and the historic calculations of an index or rate may change from month to month based on revisions to the underlying economic data used in the calculation of the index or rate.

This document may contain forward-looking assessments. These are based upon a number of assumptions concerning future conditions that ultimately may prove to be inaccurate. Such forward-looking assessments are subject to risks and uncertainties and may be affected by various factors that may cause actual results to differ materially. No member of LSEG nor their licensors assume any duty to and do not undertake to update forward-looking assessments.

No part of this information may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without prior written permission of the applicable member of LSEG. Use and distribution of LSEG data requires a licence from LSEG and/or its licensors.

The information contained in this report should not be considered "research" as defined in recital 28 of the Commission Delegated Directive (EU) 2017/593 of 7 April 2016 supplementing Directive 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council ("MiFID II") and is provided for no fee.

